THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Alison Renee Lee, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2018-002155

---

The Housing Authority of the  
City of Charleston,

Respondent,

RECEIVED  
JUN 08 2019  
SC Court of Appeals

v.

Katrina Brown,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

Adam Protheroe  
S.C. APPLESEED LEGAL JUSTICE CENTER  
P.O. Box 7187  
Columbia, SC 29202  
(803) 779-1113  
S.C. Bar No. 78442

Matthew M. Billingsley  
Lead Public Housing Attorney  
SOUTH CAROLINA LEGAL SERVICES  
2803 Carner Avenue  
Charleston, SC 29405  
(843) 266-2174  
S.C. Bar No. 76095

## QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. Did the Circuit Court err in applying U.S. Dep't of Hous. & Urban Dev. v. Rucker, 535 U.S. 125 (2002), to the instant case?
  
- II. Did the Circuit Court err in affirming the Magistrate's Order to eject Katrina Brown and her daughter where (1) there was no drug-related criminal activity, and (2) Respondent Housing Authority of the City of Charleston failed to demonstrate that Anthony Cobb's off-premises conduct presented a threshold threat to the health, safety or right to peaceful enjoyment of other residents on the premises, or to those living in the immediate vicinity?
  
- III. Did the Circuit Court err in affirming the Magistrate's Order where Respondent Housing Authority of the City of Charleston abused its discretion in seeking to evict Katrina Brown and her daughter, thereby rendering its action arbitrary, capricious, and in violation of Brown's right to substantive due process?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 16, 2015, Katrina Brown (“Brown”) entered into a lease agreement with the Housing Authority of the City of Charleston (hereinafter “CHA” or “Housing Authority”). This lease agreement provided for Brown, her son Anthony Cobb, then seventeen-years-old, her daughter J.R., then thirteen-years-old, and Rashauna Brown to occupy a public housing apartment located at 2214-A Sunnyside Drive, Charleston, SC 29403. (R. pp. 94, 105-106).

By letter dated January 29, 2016, CHA notified Brown that she was in violation of the terms of her lease for “violent criminal/drug related activity” and contended that Brown had violated Sections 5(c), 5(d), 5(e), 5(f), 16(n), and 16(u) of the December 16, 2015 lease. (R. p. 102). On March 1, 2016, CHA filed an Application for Ejectment with the Charleston County Magistrate Court seeking the ejectment of Brown and her children. (R. p. 29). On March 2, 2016, the Magistrate issued a Rule to Vacate or Show Cause ordering Brown and all others residing at 2214-A Sunnyside Drive to, within 10 days after service, vacate their home or contact the Charleston City Magistrate Court for the purpose of showing why all residents should not be ejected. (R. p. 2). Brown was served with the Rule to Vacate or Show Cause on March 4, 2016 and timely requested a hearing to show cause. (R. p. 105).

The Magistrate conducted a bench trial on March 16, 2016. (R. p. 105 ). On March 31, 2016, the Magistrate issued an order denying CHA’s application to eject Brown and her daughter, however, the Magistrate authorized CHA to remove Anthony Cobb, who was then incarcerated and awaiting trial, as an authorized resident. (R. p. 3-4).

On April 29, 2016, CHA appealed the Magistrate's March 31<sup>st</sup> order to the Charleston County Court of Common Pleas. (R. p. 30). The Magistrate issued a Return of the Magistrate on May 19, 2016. (R. p. 105). On December 13, 2016, the Circuit Court heard CHA's appeal. (R. p. 58). On January 11, 2017, the Circuit Court issued an order remanding the case for a ruling consistent with United States Department of Housing and Urban Development, v. Rucker, 535 U.S. 125 (2002). (R. p. 5).

On January 30, 2017, the Magistrate filed an Order Upon Remand, in which the Court reversed its March 31, 2016 Order denying Brown's family's ejectment and, instead, granted CHA's application for ejectment of Brown and her daughter. (R. p. 11). On February 10, 2017, in response to Brown's Motion to Alter, Amend, or Clarify its Judgment, the Magistrate vacated the Order Upon Remand and offered the parties an opportunity to brief specified issues. (R. p. 12).

Subsequently, the Magistrate received briefing from the parties and issued a Final Order Upon Remand on May 15, 2017 reversing the Court's earlier decision and granting CHA's application to eject Brown and her family from their home. (R. p. 15-18).<sup>1</sup>

---

<sup>1</sup> In the interim, Brown appealed the Circuit Court's January 11, 2017 order to the South Carolina Court of Appeals. (R. p. 33). Along with her Notice of Appeal, Brown filed a motion asking that the Court of Appeals hold her appeal in abeyance and remand the case for further proceedings before the Magistrate. (R. p. 34). On March 31, 2017, the Court of Appeals dismissed Brown's appeal holding that the Circuit Court's January 11, 2017 order was not immediately appealable. (R. p. 13). On April 7, 2017, the Magistrate issued a Second Amended Order revising the briefing schedule in light of Brown's appeal. (R. p. 14).

On May 30, 2017, Brown appealed the Magistrate's May 15, 2017 Final Order Upon Remand to the Charleston County Court of Common Pleas. (R. p. 49). On July 31, 2017, the Magistrate filed a Second Return. (R. p. 108).

On September 5, 2017, the Circuit Court heard Brown's appeal and issued an order on April 17, 2018 affirming the Magistrate's May 15, 2017 Final Order Upon Remand. (R. p. 19-25). Brown timely moved to alter or amend the Circuit Court's order. (R. p. 54). Thereafter, the Circuit Court denied Brown's motion by order filed November 7, 2018. (R. p. 26).

Brown filed and served notice of appeal from the Circuit Court's April 17, 2018 and November 7, 2018 orders on December 5, 2018. (R. p. 57).

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

At the March 16, 2016 bench trial before the Magistrate, Detective Jason Jarrell of the Charleston County Police Department testified that Brown's son, Anthony Cobb, was arrested on January 13, 2016 for unlawfully carrying a pistol and that Cobb gave a post-Miranda confession to being involved in a recent attempted armed robbery in the area of his arrest. (R. p. 4). Cobb was arrested approximately one mile from Brown's home. (R. p. 21).

Brown testified that Cobb's arrest and the attempted armed robbery had both taken place off CHA property. (R. p. 106). Brown also testified that Cobb was incarcerated awaiting trial at that time and that if Cobb posted bail prior to his trial, she would not allow him to return to the home she shares with her daughter. Instead, she testified he could live at his grandmother's home,

which is not located on CHA property. (R. p. 106). She also testified that she had no knowledge of the alleged incidents until Cobb was arrested. (R. p. 106).

The Magistrate found in favor of Brown, stating

It is this court's opinion that evictions based on the criminal activity provisions of the housing lease agreements must be determined on a case-by-case basis. Pursuant to the testimony presented in court, 24 C.F.R. §966.4, as well as the distinguishable facts from the United States Supreme Court's decision in [Rucker], I do not find for an eviction against Katrina Brown under these facts as presented. The City of Charleston Housing Authority may take measures to require removal of Mr. Cobb as a household member, pursuant to their policies and applicable law.

(R. p. 4 (emphasis in original)). On April 29, 2016, CHA appealed the Magistrate's March 31<sup>st</sup> order asserting that she erred in applying Rucker. (R. p. 30).

On appeal, the Circuit Court found that Rucker was the "controlling case" in this matter and that, it could not "find how the instant case is substantively dissimilar from the factual pattern in Rucker." (R. pp. 8-9). The Circuit Court noted that "the Order of the Magistrate references distinguishable facts" from Rucker but fails to articulate what those distinguishing characteristics may be." (R. p. 9). Immediately upon remand, the Magistrate issued a two-sentence order reversing the Court's earlier decision "[b]ased on the higher court's analysis of [Rucker]". (R. p. 11).

On February 8, 2017, Brown requested that the Magistrate vacate the January 30<sup>th</sup> order, allow the parties to file briefs and, if necessary, hold an evidentiary hearing. (R. p. 31). The Magistrate granted Brown's request in part and agreed to receive briefs from the parties

“specifically limited to Circuit Court’s Order regarding ‘distinguishable facts’ between the [Rucker] case.” (R. p. 12). After receiving briefs from the parties, the Magistrate issued a Final Order Upon Remand in which she found that CHA “became well aware of the underlying criminal matter before determining to pursue eviction proceedings against Ms. Brown” and held that she “must follow binding precedent and find for an eviction.” (R. p. 18).

On May 30, 2017, Brown appealed the Magistrate’s Final Order Upon Remand to Circuit Court on two grounds. (R. p. 49).<sup>1</sup> First, Brown argued that there was no evidentiary support for a finding that the alleged criminal activity threatened the health, safety, or right to peaceful enjoyment of other residents or of those residing in the immediate vicinity of the housing complex. (R. p. 51) Second, Brown argued that CHA abused the discretion conferred on it by Congress by failing to consider the circumstances of the case and any alternatives to eviction. (R. p. 51-52).

The Circuit Court heard Brown’s appeal on September 5, 2017 and issued an order on April 17, 2018 affirming the Magistrate. (R. p. 19, 58). The Circuit Court found that the lease granted CHA the authority to terminate Brown’s tenancy “for a serious violation of the terms of the lease such as violent criminal activity performed by a member of the household or a person under the resident’s control occurring on or off the premises.” (R. p. 23). The Circuit Court found that Cobb’s conduct “occurred about a mile off [CHA] premises but it involved acts, from which it can be inferred, created a threat to the health, safety and right to peaceful enjoyment by residents in the vicinity of [CHA’s] property.” (R. p. 23).

Brown timely moved to alter or amend the Circuit Court’s April 17, 2018 order and sought rulings on two issues which were presented for consideration but were not ruled upon. (R. p. 54).

First, Brown sought a ruling on her argument that CHA had abused its discretion in pursuing the eviction of Brown and her daughter under the circumstances. (R. p. 55). Second, Brown sought a ruling on her argument that CHA's authority to seek eviction for non-drug-related criminal activity extends only to activity which presents a current or ongoing threat to the health, safety, or right to quiet enjoyment of other residents of the public housing complex or those living in the immediate vicinity. (R. p. 56). On November 1, 2018, the Circuit Court issued an Order on Reconsideration declining to reverse its earlier decision. (R. p. 26). With respect to Brown's first argument, the Circuit Court found that CHA did exercise its discretion and proceeded with an eviction. The Court distinguished the North Carolina Supreme Court's decision in E. Carolina Reg. Hous. Auth. v. Lofton, 789 S.E.2d 449 (N.C. 2016), finding that eviction in Brown's case did not occur automatically with an alleged violation as it did in Lofton and that, here, CHA has to make the choice to proceed with an eviction. (R. p. 27). As to Brown's second argument, the Court found that Brown's reading of the applicable statute and regulation to require a current or ongoing threat in order to justify eviction "reads additional words into the statute and the lease." (R. p. 28). This appeal timely followed. (R. p. 57).

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

In reviewing the Circuit Court's adjudication of an appeal of an ejection proceeding in magistrate's court, findings of fact are to be upheld if there is any supporting evidence. McNair v. United Energy Distribs., 390 S.C. 44, 699 S.E.2d 723 (Ct. App. 2010). However, in such cases "the Court of Appeals still retains *de novo* review of whether the facts show the circuit court's affirmance was controlled or affected by errors of law." Bowers v. Thomas, 373 S.C. 240, 644

S.E.2d 751 (Ct. App. 2007) (*citing* Hadfield v. Gilchrist, 343 S.C. 88, 538 S.E.2d 268 (Ct. App. 2000)). Accordingly, because the Circuit Court's affirmance of the Magistrate was controlled or affected by errors of law, that affirmance is subject to *de novo* review.

## ARGUMENT

### I. **THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN APPLYING UNITED STATES DEP'T OF HOUS. & URBAN DEV. V. RUCKER, 535 U.S. 125 (2002), TO THE INSTANT CASE**

A key issue in this case and one that must be addressed at the outset is whether, and to what extent, the United States Supreme Court's decision in Rucker is relevant to the instant case. Rucker arose out of four separate ejectment actions brought by the Oakland Housing Authority against public housing tenants whose guests or household members had engaged in drug-related criminal activity at a public housing complex. 535 U.S. at 128. The tenants challenged HUD's interpretation of 42 U.S.C. § 1437d(l)(6) arguing that the statute did not require lease terms authorizing the eviction of innocent tenants and, if it did, the statute was unconstitutional. The United States Supreme Court rejected the tenants' arguments and held that the statute at issue unambiguously requires lease terms vesting housing authorities with the discretion to evict tenants for the drug-related criminal activity of guests or household members regardless of whether the tenant knew or should have known of the activity. 535 U.S. at 130. Rucker's core holding is that there is no "innocent tenant" defense to an eviction based on drug-related criminal activity by a guest or household member.

Rucker is not controlling here because Brown does not rely on an “innocent tenant” defense in this case and the eviction at issue was not based on drug-related activity. Instead, Brown argues that CHA has failed to establish that Cobb’s conduct met the threshold requirements for termination of a public housing tenancy for non-drug-related criminal activity and that, even if Cobb’s conduct did meet those requirements, CHA abused its discretion in seeking to terminate Brown’s tenancy. The Rucker Court was not presented with and did not address either of these arguments. As a result, Rucker is not controlling in this case.

In an initial decision, the Magistrate found in favor of Brown based upon “the testimony presented in court, 24 C.F.R. § 966.4, as well as the distinguishable facts from the United States Supreme Court’s decision in [Rucker]”. (R. p. 4). While the Magistrate did not specify what facts distinguished the instant case from Rucker, one obvious distinction is the fact that Rucker did not address the statutory and regulatory requirement that a housing authority prove that non-drug-related criminal activity present a threshold threat.

In its appeal of the Magistrate’s decision in favor of Brown, CHA asserted that the Magistrate’s sole error was the misapplication of Rucker. (R. p. 30). After hearing CHA’s appeal, the Circuit Court issued an order finding that Rucker was the “controlling case” in this matter, that “this Court cannot find how the instant case is substantively dissimilar from the factual pattern in Rucker”, and remanding the case to the Magistrate for a ruling consistent with Rucker. (R. p. 8-9). Upon remand, the Magistrate reversed the earlier decision in favor of Brown “based upon the [circuit] court’s analysis of [Rucker]” and found that Rucker was “binding precedent” in this case. (R. p. 11, 18). The Magistrate reversed the earlier decision “without making any new findings of

fact or considering any additional evidence”. (R. p. 21). During Brown’s appeal, the Circuit Court found that the Magistrate “properly applied the legal standard set forth in Rucker.” (R. p. 24).

The Circuit Court’s interpretation of Rucker as dispositive in this case during CHA’s initial appeal was erroneous. It is evident that the Magistrate relied upon this erroneous interpretation in reversing her earlier decision in favor of Brown. During Brown’s subsequent appeal, the Circuit Court’s holding that the Magistrate properly applied Rucker was erroneous because Rucker’s core holding does not apply to this case and does not control the result here.

The facts of Rucker are pertinent to the instant case only in the limited sense that they demonstrate a housing authority’s judicious exercise of its discretion. While CHA points to Rucker as justification for seeking to evict Brown and her daughter in this case, the named respondent in Rucker, Pearlie Rucker, was not actually evicted despite the fact that a member of her household engaged in drug-related criminal activity on public housing property. Instead, as the Supreme Court noted, the housing authority dismissed its eviction action against Ms. Rucker after the offending household member was incarcerated and, thus, no longer posed a threat to other tenants. 535 U.S. at 128 fn 1. The incarceration of the offending household member and mitigation of any real or perceived threat is an important factual similarity between the instant case and Rucker. Aside from that, however, Rucker sheds very little light on the questions presented here.

For these reasons, Rucker is not controlling and the lower courts’ reliance on it was misplaced. Under the law which is applicable to this case the decision below must be reversed.

**II. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN AFFIRMING THE MAGISTRATE WHERE RESPONDENT HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF CHARLESTON FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE THAT ANTHONY COBB'S OFF-PREMISES CONDUCT PRESENTED A THRESHOLD THREAT TO THE HEALTH, SAFETY, OR RIGHT TO PEACEFUL ENJOYMENT OF OTHER RESIDENTS ON THE PREMISES, OR TO THOSE LIVING IN THE IMMEDIATE VICINITY.**

The public housing program at issue in this case is governed by the United States Housing Act of 1937 ("USHA") which requires CHA to utilize leases which

provide that any criminal activity that threatens the health, safety, or right to peaceful enjoyment of the premises by other tenants or any drug-related criminal activity on or off such premises, engaged in by a public housing tenant, any member of the tenant's household, or any guest or other person under the tenant's control shall be cause for termination of tenancy.

42 U.S.C. § 1437d(l)(6) (2018). The USHA distinguishes between criminal activity which is "drug-related" and that which otherwise threatens the health, safety, or right to peaceful enjoyment of other tenants (hereinafter "other criminal activity"). Pursuant to statutory authority, the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development ("HUD") has promulgated regulations which elaborate on this distinction. With respect to drug-related criminal activity, HUD regulations provide that

The [public housing] lease must provide that drug-related criminal activity engaged in on or off the premises by any tenant, member of the tenant's household or guest, and any such activity engaged in on the premises by any other person under the tenant's control, is grounds for the PHA to terminate tenancy.

24 C.F.R. § 966.4(l)(5)(i)(B) (2018). HUD has defined drug-related criminal activity as “the illegal manufacture, sale, distribution, or use of a drug, or the possession of a drug with intent to manufacture, sell, distribute or use the drug.” 24 C.F.R. § 5.100 (2018). With respect to other criminal activity, HUD regulations provide that

The [public housing] lease must provide that any criminal activity by a covered person that threatens the health, safety, or right to peaceful enjoyment of the premises by other residents (including PHA management staff residing on the premises) or threatens the health, safety, or right to peaceful enjoyment of their residences by persons residing in the immediate vicinity of the premises is grounds for termination of tenancy.

24 C.F.R. § 966.4(l)(5)(ii)(A) (2018). “Covered person” means a tenant, any member of the tenant's household, a guest or another person under the tenant's control. 24 C.F.R. § 5.100 (2018).

The statutory and regulatory language at issue here creates an important distinction between drug-related criminal activity and other criminal activity. Drug-related criminal activity by certain individuals is grounds for termination of tenancy, regardless of where it occurred, and CHA is not required to show that the activity in question had any particular effect on the public housing complex or those living nearby. In essence, Congress and HUD appear to have determined that drug-related criminal activity by certain individuals is *per se* a threat to the community and have deemed it cause for termination of tenancy regardless of the particulars of the underlying offense.

In contrast, in order for non-drug-related criminal activity to be grounds for termination of a public housing tenancy, three distinct requirements must be met. First, the activity must create a threat to health, safety, or the right to peaceful enjoyment. Second, the activity must create the

threat with respect to other residents of the public housing complex or those living in the immediate vicinity. Finally, the activity must constitute a current or ongoing threat. 42 U.S.C. § 1437d(l)(6) (2018); 24 C.F.R. § 966.4(l)(5)(ii)(A) (2018). Because this case involves non-drug-related criminal activity, CHA's failure to satisfy any one of these requirements would mean that it had no authority to terminate Brown's tenancy.

For the following reasons, CHA has failed to demonstrate that Cobb's off-premises conduct created the requisite threat. As a result, the decision below must be reversed.

A. The Circuit Court Erred in Relying on Language in the Lease which Purports to Grant CHA Authority to Evict without Proving the Requisite Threat.

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