THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
The Honorable Alison Renee Lee, Circuit Court Judge  
Trial Court Case No. 2017CP1002711

Appellate Case No. 2018-002155

---

**RECEIVED**  
MAY 31 2019  
SC Court of Appeals

City of Charleston Housing Authority,

Respondent,

v.

Katrina Brown,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT  
CITY OF CHARLESTON HOUSING AUTHORITY**

---

Theodore Parker III  
Jacqueline Dixon Phillips  
Thomas B. Pritchard  
Parker Nelson & Associates  
211 King St. Suite 107  
Charleston, SC 29401

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT  
CITY OF CHARLESTON HOUSING AUTHORITY

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

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **I. UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING & URBAN DEVELOPMENT V. RUCKER IS RELEVANT AND CONTROLLING IN THIS MATTER**

It is CHA’s contention that this argument is not properly before the Court. Brown has never argued that United States Department of Housing & Urban Development v. Rucker, 535 U.S. 125

(2002) is not applicable to this matter. If the Court determines that this matter is properly before the Court, CHA addresses this argument below.

Brown attempts to argue that Rucker is not controlling because Brown is not relying on the “innocent tenant defense,” when that is precisely what Brown is doing. Appellant Br. Brown is not arguing that her son Cobb, who engaged in the criminal activity, should not be evicted, she is arguing that she and her other child should be allowed to remain in public housing. Brown also argues that CHA has “failed to establish that Cobb’s conduct met the threshold requirements for termination of a public housing tenancy for non-drug related criminal activity” in spite of two circuit court judges’ rulings that the CHA did in fact do so. Appellant Br. Brown goes on to argue that the CHA abused its discretion in seeking to terminate Brown’s tenancy, which both circuit court judges also ruled on and found in CHA’s favor.

Initially, Judge McCoy found in favor of Brown at the Magistrate level. However, after CHA appealed that decision and Judge Stilwell issued an order requiring that a decision be made properly applying Rucker, Judge McCoy reversed her decision and ruled in favor of eviction. Brown asserts that one distinction between Rucker and the instant case is that Rucker did not address the statutory and regulatory requirement that a housing authority prove that non-drug-related criminal activity present a threshold threat. Brown has argued in her appeals that Rucker is distinguishable due to the fact that it dealt with drug-related activity. Both circuit court judges addressed this argument and determined the statute, regulations, and lease agreement all include provisions for “other criminal activity” as well as drug-related crimes. Judge Lee specifically held, “The incident occurred about a mile off CHA premises but it involved acts, from which it can be inferred, created a threat to the health, safety and right to peaceful enjoyment by residents in the

vicinity of CHA's property." (April 17, 2018 Circuit Court Order p. 4 para 3; R. p. 023, lines 27-30).

Brown argues that Rucker's core holding does not apply to this case. Seldom do we have facts in cases which are identical. We must often search for and apply the cases that are the most relevant to the case at hand, which is what was done in this matter. While the facts of Rucker do not precisely match the facts of the case at hand, it is the most relevant and controlling case. The Rucker facts are substantially similar to this matter. Grandsons and children of residents in an Oakland Housing Authority (OHA) property were found to be engaging in drug related activity and the OHA initiated proceedings to remove the tenants. The case eventually made its way through the court system and to the United States Supreme Court, who reviewed the Housing and Urban Development (HUD) regulations and statutes and concluded that, "Section 1437d(1)(6) requires lease terms that give local public housing authorities the discretion to terminate the lease of a tenant when a member of the household or a guest engages in drug-related activity, regardless of whether the tenant knew, or should have known, of the drug related activity." Rucker, 535 U.S. at 136. In the case at hand, while Brown's son was not arrested for a drug crime, it is a violent crime and the intention of the regulation is the same- to hold the head of household responsible for the tenant's activity, regardless of if they were aware of the illegal activity.

Judge Lee evaluated Rucker along with the corresponding statutes, regulations, and lease agreement and determined that the CHA was within their discretion to evict Brown. Judge Lee held, "Under the statute and the CHA lease, the housing authority has the power to evict the tenant as well as the household member. The U.S. Supreme Court in Rucker interpreted the statute and authorized eviction of the tenant even in the absence of any offending behavior by the tenant or

knowledge thereof” (November 1, 2018 Circuit Court Order on Reconsideration p. 2 para 1; R. p. 028, lines 1-4).

Judge Lee further held that,

“The tenant may be evicted for criminal activity by judicial action if the housing authority determines that the ‘covered person has engaged in criminal activity, regardless of whether the covered person has been arrested or convicted for such activity and without satisfying the standard of proof used for a criminal conviction. 24 C.F.R. § 966.4(1)(5)(ii)(A). Pursuant to the lease, CHA had the authority to terminate the lease for a serious violation of the terms of the lease such as violent criminal activity performed by a member of the household or a person under the resident’s control occurring on or off the premises... The incident occurred about a mile off CHA premises but it involved acts, from which it can be inferred, created a threat to the health, safety and right to peaceful enjoyment by residents in the vicinity of CHA’s property” (April 17, 2018 Circuit Court Order p. 4 para 2-3; R. p. 023, lines 16-30).

Brown then argues that in the Rucker case, Pearlie Rucker was not in fact evicted. This is an example of that housing authority exercising its discretion under the unique and individual circumstances in that situation. The CHA exercised its discretion in this matter and after evaluating the situation, including the two arrests for separate incidents, refusal to cooperate with the police, and past incidents with Brown, exercised its discretion in pursuing the eviction against Brown.

While the Rucker facts do not exactly match the facts in this matter, they are substantially similar. Rucker’s holdings deal with housing authority’s exercise of discretion and with the same statutes and regulations relevant to this matter. Rucker is therefore the controlling case in this matter and the lower courts were correct in relying on it.

## **II. THE CIRCUIT COURT WAS CORRECT IN AFFIRMING THE MAGISTRATE REGARDING THE THREAT TO HEALTH, SAFETY, AND RIGHT TO PEACEFUL ENJOYMENT OF OTHER RESIDENTS OR THOSE IN THE IMMEDIATE VICINITY**

Brown discussed two code sections in her argument that the drug-related provisions create a more stringent standard for eviction than the section that addresses “other criminal activity.” Appellant Br.

Brown asserts that,

Tenant is obligated “to assure that no...member of the tenant’s household...engages in any criminal activity that threatens the health, safety, or right to peaceful enjoyment of the premises by other residents.” 24 C.F.R. § 966.4(f)(12)(i)(A). The regulations also require that the lease contain provisions for evictions for “other good cause” which includes “criminal activity...provided in paragraph (l)(5) of this section.” 24 C.F.R. § 966.4(l)(iii)(A). Paragraph (l)(5) grants the housing authority the authority to terminate the tenancy for criminal activity or alcohol abuse. In cases where the eviction is based on criminal activity that is not drug related, “the lease must provide that any criminal activity by a covered person that threatens the health, safety, or right to peaceful enjoyment of their residences by persons residing in the immediate vicinity of the premises is grounds for termination of the tenancy.” 24 C.F.R. § 966.4(l)(5)(ii)(A).

Brown argues that the activity at issue must present an ongoing threat. This was addressed specifically by Judge Lee in her Order on Reconsideration. “Defendant reads additional words into the statute and the lease. Based on Defendant’s interpretation CHA would not be able to evict any tenant unless the conduct complained of was a present and ongoing threat. The clear language of the statute and the lease do not support [Brown’s] interpretation. Cobb admittedly engaged in criminal activity that threatened the health, safety, or right to peaceful enjoyment of the residents of the housing complex and those living in the vicinity. His activities were a threat when they occurred. The activity was a violation of the lease provision. Whether the threat is removed does not negate the violation” (Order on Reconsideration p. 2. Para 2; R. p. 028, lines 11-18). There is no requirement that the threat be current or ongoing in the statute or the lease.

The Circuit Court correctly found that the conduct of the tenants was sufficient to authorize the CHA to proceed with evicting the tenants.

**A. The Circuit Court Correctly Held CHA Was Authorized to Evict Brown**

The applicable lease provisions provide that “neither the Resident nor any household member, guest, or other persons under the Resident’s control shall engage in any violent or drug-related criminal activity on or off the premises” and that “any violent or drug-related criminal

activity performed by any household members, guest or other persons under the Resident's control on or off the premises, not just on or near the premises" constitutes a violation of the lease (Circuit Court Order, signed April 17, 2018, filed April 24, 2018, p. 3; R. p. 022, lines 12-18).

During the March 16, 2016 bench trial presided over by Judge McCoy, Detective Jarrell testified that Cobb confessed to the attempted armed robbery. Brown testified that Cobb was in fact a resident on the premises, although he was being held at the Charleston County Detention Center at the time of the hearing. In spite of Brown's testimony that Cobb would not be residing with her if he were to make bail prior to trial, she listed him as a resident on the February 1, 2016 lease, which was executed two weeks after the armed robbery incident.

The CHA exercised its discretion and proceeded with the eviction of Brown. CHA did not attempt to evade regulatory limits by utilizing statutory and regulatory mandates in its lease agreements, as Brown alleges. Cobb's repeated criminal activity which occurred within a mile of the residence satisfied the requirement that the criminal activity threatened the health, safety, or right to peaceful enjoyment of the residents of the housing complex and those living in the vicinity and was a breach of the lease agreement. Additionally, Judge McCoy noted that Brown instructed Cobb not to cooperate with the police investigation into his co-defendant (Second Return of the Magistrate; R. p. 106, lines 13-17), and she noted that the housing authority had had issues with Brown in the past (Civil Disposition Sheet and Magistrate's Notes. March 16, 2016; R. p. 104).

Brown first cites Hill v. Richardson, 740 F. Supp. 1393 (S.D. Ind. 1990) a case out of the Southern District of Indiana, which is not controlling, to try to support her position. Hill is distinguishable from this matter. As an initial issue, the Hill matter states from the onset the issues that it discussed apply to the Section 8 Existing Housing Program. See Hill v. Richardson, 740 F. Supp. 1393 (S.D. Ind. 1990). Section 8 is governed by 24 C.F.R. §§ 882.101-606, which is a

completely separate code section from the public housing codes that govern Brown's lease. Brown is not a Section 8 participant; therefore, Hill does not apply. Moving on, the court in Hill determined the reasons for denial or termination of assistance specified in the applicable regulation were the sole grounds for such action. 740 F. Supp. at 1397. In the case at hand, CHA terminated for grounds that are listed in the regulation. As stated earlier and as was held by the Circuit Court, Cobb's repeated criminal activity which occurred within approximately a mile of the residence satisfied the requirement that the criminal activity threatened the health, safety, or right to peaceful enjoyment of the residents of the housing complex and those living in the vicinity, and was a breach of the lease agreement.

Brown goes on to cite other cases which are not controlling and not relevant. The first case out of the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Louisiana dealt with the applicable housing authority's violation of the statute by terminating participation in the housing program for failing to report a change in marital status. See Holly v. Hous. Auth. Of New Orleans, 684 F. Supp. 1363 (E.D. La. 1988). The second case out of the Commonwealth Court of Pennsylvania dealt with an individual not getting the applicable housing authority's permission prior to moving to a new unit. See Cain v. Allegheny Hous. Auth., 986 A. 2d 947 (Pa. Commw. Ct. 2009). Neither of these cases are on point. Neither deal with violent crime committed by a household member or someone under control of the resident.

Brown next argues that CHA's prohibition of criminal activity is unenforceable because it is not rationally related to a legitimate housing purpose. Brown cites Richmond Tenant's Organization v. Richmond Redevelopment and Housing Authority, 751 F. Supp. 1204, 1205 (E.D. Va.1990), which held that housing lease provisions must be "rationally related to a legitimate housing purpose." Judge Stilwell specifically addressed this in his order. "However, public policy,

as advanced by the Legislature and the Supreme Court, recognizes that drug activity and violent crime is a plague on public housing communities. Therefore, this legislation was enacted to potentially curb this illegal activity...Quite simply, it is a tool of public policy enacted by the Legislature and found acceptable by the Supreme Court” (Order Granting CHA’s Motion for Remand signed January 11, 2017; R. p. 009, lines 8-13). Brown goes on to argue that Cobb’s conduct did not create a threat to the public housing complex. As we have stated repeatedly and as held by Judge Lee, Brown’s repeated criminal activity which occurred within a mile of the residence satisfied the requirement that the criminal activity threatened the health, safety, or right to peaceful enjoyment of the residents of the housing complex and those living in the vicinity, and was a breach of the lease agreement.

Brown again goes on to cite several cases which are not controlling and are not relevant to the case at hand. None of the cases deal with violent criminal activity which was admitted to by the resident. The Kolio case dealt with misappropriation of funds. See Kolio v. Hawai’i Pub. Hous. Auth., 349 P.3d 374 (Haw. 2015). The Bush case deals with removal of a stop sign. See Hous. Auth. of Bangor v. Bush, (349 S.E.2d 501 (Ga. App. 1986). The Bryant case dealt with credit card fraud. See Boston Hous. Auth. v. Bryant, 693 N.E.2d 1060 (Mass. App. Ct. 1998).

Cabrini-Green is the most relevant case cited by Brown. See Cabrini-Green Local Advisory Council v. Chicago Hous. Auth., 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 6520 (N.D. Ill. Jan. 20, 2007). The language at issue in that case was found in the lease rider and stated: “For termination of the LEASE, the following procedures shall be followed by LESSOR and the TENANT: ...The LEASE may be terminated...[when] [t]he TENANT or any authorized family member is convicted of a felony.” Cabrini-Green, 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS at \*4. The Court notes that “As an initial matter, it should be noted that public housing leases are already required to enable property managers to

terminate leases based on perceived threats to community safety.” Id. “The requirement is found in 42 U.S.C. § 1437d(l)(6), which provides that ‘[e]ach public housing agency shall utilize leases which...provide that any criminal activity that threatens the health, safety, or right to peaceful enjoyment of the premises by other tenants or any drug-related criminal activity on or off such premises, engaged in by a public housing tenant, any member of the tenant's household, or any guest or other person under the tenant's control, shall be cause for termination of tenancy.’” Id. at \*5-6.

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